

Dover Choral Society Guidelines

Concert and rehearsal venue St. Mary's Church and Hall in Dover Registered Charity No: 278071

These Guidelines were created and finalised by the DCS Committee on 10.05.2024

Contents:

- Page 1. Code of Conduct
- Page 3. Social Media
- Page 4. Complaints Process
- Page 5. DCS Constitution

Code of Conduct

Dover Choral Society (DCS) recognise that the most essential resource of any choral society is its people. Volunteers play a very important role in executing the work of a choral society. The DCS Committee are responsible for providing leadership to volunteers. This includes supporting and valuing the contribution volunteers make to the aims and objectives of our choir as well as promoting standards of behaviour as outlined in this document. The DCS Committee should support volunteers in carrying out their duties and always, in terms of their conduct, serve as an example of how everyone in our choir should conduct themselves, to reflect the values of DCS. This Code of Conduct is a set of guidelines we should all aim to follow.

Who is this code of conduct for?

Everyone who is involved with DCS events and activities, whether a member, a volunteer, or in a paid role.

Guide for rehearsals

- Try to look after your voice and health to be able to attend as many DCS rehearsals as possible
- If you know you will miss a rehearsal, try to find out what was rehearsed so you can catch up
- If you are unable to sing but are feeling well, please still attend the rehearsal. Much can be learnt from being in the rehearsal and listening, even if you are not taking an active part
- If you are feeling unwell, and there is a chance you may pass on an illness to others, please do not attend a rehearsal, especially if we are only a few weeks away from a performance
- Please arrive in a timely manner so that you are ready to rehearse by the time the rehearsal begins
- Ensure that you are equipped with the necessary music, a pencil and water to stay hydrated
- Experienced members are encouraged to help less experienced members or new members to navigate the music and support them through the rehearsal
- A choir requires a delicate balance between parts, so please listen to each other and watch our Musical Director, as often as you are able, when singing
- If you are unsure of anything and require further guidance or support, please do ask one of our DCS Committee or our Musical Director at an appropriate time
- Please ensure that your membership fees are paid in good time
- Please make good use of any online resources given to choir members
- Most importantly, have fun!

Guide for performances

There will be at least two performance opportunities throughout the year. You are encouraged to participate in as many as possible as every member is an invaluable cog in the machine. Therefore please:

- Be punctual and prepared with all necessary music organised in the correct order, and in the correct black folder
- Wear the correct dress code (this will be communicated to you with plenty of advance notice)
- You are a representative of the choir, and your conduct will reflect this, so please be polite and courteous to all around you
- Please do not argue about seating, you will all be seen, you will all be heard
- Enjoy the performance, you have worked hard, and you deserve it!

<u>Behaviour</u>

• All choir members are encouraged to be positive role models to other choir members through a cheerful outlook and a positive attitude

- Everyone is entitled to be treated with dignity and respect and those values should be always reciprocated
- Please be sensitive and considerate to others when making remarks in person or on social media platforms
- There is no place for harassment or bullying of any kind and members should avoid any actions that could be deemed to be such
- Please look out for one another, we are not just a choir, we are all friends

<u>Miscellaneous</u>

- Try to immerse yourself in the community and social aspects of the choir, including engaging with social media and attending in-person, social events. The choir is much more than just a weekly rehearsal
- Please encourage others to sign up to the choir as numbers make a significant impact on every aspect of the experience
- If in doubt, ask someone. Do not ever think that your questions or concerns are not important, because they are

<u>Disputes</u>

- If you have a dispute with another member of the choir then please try to, in the first instance, resolve it directly with them. If that fails, then please speak to the DCS Committee who will attempt to mediate between you both and / or attempt to resolve the dispute directly
- If you have a grievance with the administrative side of the organisation, then please discuss it with the DCS Committee who will take steps to try to resolve it on your behalf
- Please approach all disputes and grievances with calmness, patience and respect as the choir is, in many instances, run by willing volunteers who deserve to be respected

Thank you.

This code of conduct will be reviewed regularly and kept up to date by the DCS Committee Secretary.

Social Media Guidelines

Statement:

These guidelines aim to safeguard all those involved with Dover Choral Society's (DCS) online social media platforms, and so we are encouraging individuals to follow the guidelines as defined below.

Guidelines:

- Social media updates are immediate and can have a lasting impact and you should assume that anything you post is permanent. Even if you delete it later, it may have been seen and re-published, referred to, or even screen shotted and used elsewhere. Please bear this in mind before posting anything.
- You are to remember that if you are a member of DCS, others may see you as a representative of DCS when you post anything on our social media platforms. There are always risks associated with personal opinions being seen as public statements.
- Anonymity or 'hiding' behind aliases when using our social media platforms is not allowed.
- The informality that social media encourages can mean that it might be harder to maintain the professional distance that is required when liaising with 'children, young people and vulnerable adults. Communicating directly online with someone, for example with private messaging, is like meeting them in private. Please bear this in mind.
- Whilst sharing thoughts and reflections with friends or followers via our social media platforms can seem personal and private, it is not. By law, if one or more people can access it, content is classed as published, in the public domain and subject to legislation around libel, defamation, copyright and data protection. Please bear this in mind.
- The use of social media does not change DCS's understanding of confidentiality. Within the life of our society there are private meetings and conversations. Breaking confidentiality on our social media platforms is as wrong as it would be in any other context. Arguably, it is worse as via social media a broken confidence could spread rapidly and be impossible to retract.
- We advise that individuals do not overshare personal information on our social media platforms. Please never publish detailed personal information such as your or anyone else's address or telephone number within our public social media platforms.
- If someone has offended you, please do not post offense responses publicly on our social media platforms. If you are unable to resolve your differences with the individual, please speak to one of the DCS Committee.
- Please refrain from posting photos of individuals or identifying those individuals on our social media platforms without their consent prior to posting.
- In areas where these guidelines do not provide a direct answer for your question, please check with the DCS Committee

These social media guidelines will be reviewed regularly and kept up to date by the DCS Committee Secretary.

Complaints Process

Dover Choral Society (DCS) is committed to working in an open and accountable way that builds trust and respect. We view complaints as an opportunity to learn and improve, as well as a chance to put things right for the individual that made the complaint. Therefore, we aim to ensure that making a complaint is as easy as possible. We will aim to deal with complaints promptly, politely and, when appropriate, confidentially. We will regularly review our complaints process. DCS recognise that a complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction that relates to the choir and that requires a response. All complaint information will be handled sensitively, telling only those who need to know and following any relevant data protection requirements. However, the circumstances may be such that it may not be possible to maintain complete confidentiality, in which case the situation will be explained to the complainant.

Please note unfortunately, we are not able to respond to anonymous complaints. We are also unable to deal with matters for which we are not directly responsible, therefore in such instances we will refer you to the appropriate person or organisation.

Informal complaints process:

Many concerns will be raised informally and can be made verbally, by telephone, by email or in writing. We aim to resolve informal concerns quickly, keeping matters low-key while addressing the issue. All informal complaints should be directed to a member of the DCS Committee.

Formal complaints process:

If concerns cannot be satisfactorily resolved informally, then the formal complaints process should be followed. This is intended to ensure that all complaints are handled fairly, consistently and wherever possible resolved to the complainant's satisfaction.

How to make a formal complaint:

Put your complaint in writing, and either hand it physically or send via email to the Chair of Dover Choral Society at chair@doverchoralsociety.org.uk. If your complaint concerns the Chair, then you should email the Vice Chair of Dover Choral Society at vicechair@doverchoralsociety.org.uk. You should set out the details of your complaint as clearly and fully as you can, the consequences for you as a result, and the remedy you are seeking. Please bring your complaint to our attention within 1 calendar month of the issue arising.

How DCS will respond to a formal complaint:

The recipient of the formal complaint will acknowledge receipt of the complaint in writing. DCS aim to resolve all matters as quickly as possible, so you should get a prompt response. However, some issues will be more complex and therefore may require longer to be fully investigated. If a matter requires more detailed investigation, you will receive an interim response describing what is being done to deal with the matter, and when a full reply can be expected and from whom.

Our final reply will outline the action we took to investigate the complaint, our conclusions, and any action we will take to resolve the problem and to do our best to make sure it doesn't happen again.

This complaints process will be reviewed regularly and kept up to date by the DCS Committee Secretary.

Dover Choral Society Constitution

<u>1. Name</u>

The name of the Society shall be Dover Choral Society hereinafter referred to as the Society.

2. Objects

The objects of the Society shall be to advance, improve, develop and maintain public education in, and appreciation of, the art and science of music in all its aspects by any means the trustees see fit, including through the presentation of public concerts and recitals.

3. Membership

Membership is open to individuals who are approved by the trustees. However, regarding refusal of a membership: (a)The trustees may only refuse an application for membership if, acting reasonably and properly, they consider it to be in the best interests of the Society to refuse the application. (b) The trustees must inform the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal within twenty-one days of the decision. (c)The trustees must consider any written representations the applicant may make about the decision. The trustees' decision following any written representations must be notified to the applicant in writing but shall be final. Membership is not transferable to anyone else. The trustees must keep a register of names and addresses of the members which must be made available to any member upon request. Every member shall have one vote.

4. Termination of membership

Membership is terminated if: the member dies; the member resigns by written notice to the Society unless, after the resignation, there would be less than two members; any sum due from the member to the Society is not paid in full within six months of it falling due; the member is removed from membership by a resolution of the trustees that it is in the best interests of the Society that his or her membership is terminated. A resolution to remove a member from membership may only be passed if: the member has been given at least twenty one days' notice in writing of the meeting of the trustees at which the resolution will be proposed and the reasons why it is to be proposed; the member or, at the option of the meeting; the decision to terminate the membership is communicated to the member in question in writing within 7 days of the meeting taking place; any decision made by the committee to terminate a membership is final.

5. Officers and trustees

The Society and its property shall be managed and administered by a committee comprising the officers and other members elected in accordance with this constitution. The officers and other members of the committee shall be the trustees of the Society. The Society shall have at least the following officers: a Chair, a Secretary, a Treasurer. More officer roles can be appointed if deemed necessary by the trustees. A trustee must be a member of the Society. No one may be appointed a trustee if he or she would be disqualified from acting under the provisions of clause 8. The number of trustees shall be not less than three but shall not be subject to any maximum. The first trustees (including officers) shall be those persons elected as trustees and officers at the meeting at which this constitution is adopted. A trustee may not appoint anyone to act on his or her behalf at meetings of the trustees.

6. Payment of trustees

Trustees can be paid legitimate expenses incurred on behalf of the Society. Any other trustee payments, or payments to connected persons of trustees, must be with the approval and/or permission of the Charity

Commission and in accordance with the Trustees Act 2000 and section 185 of the Charities Act 2011 where appropriate.

7. Appointment of trustees

The Society in a general meeting shall elect the trustees and may elect the officers. The trustees may appoint any person who is willing to act as a trustee. They may also appoint trustees to act as officers. At each annual general meeting a third of committee members shall retire and be eligible for re-election up to a fixed number of three-year terms as set out in the Society's rules and regulations.

In case of a vacancy arising on the committee, the committee may co-opt a new trustee who shall then stand for election by members at the next annual general meeting.

8. Disqualification and removal of trustees

A trustee shall cease to hold office if he or she is disqualified from acting as a trustee by virtue of sections 178 and 179 of the Charities Act 2011 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that provision); ceases to be a member of the Society as detailed in section 4 in the written opinion, given to the Society, of a registered medical practitioner treating that person, has become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a trustee and may remain so for more than three months; resigns as a trustee by notice to the Society (but only if at least two trustees will remain in office when the notice of resignation is to take effect); or is absent without the permission of the trustees from all their meetings held within a period of 12 consecutive months and the trustees resolve that his or her office be vacated.

9. Powers

In furtherance of the objects but not otherwise the Committee may exercise the following powers: power to raise funds and to invite contributions provided that in raising funds the Committee shall not undertake any substantial permanent trading activities and shall conform to any relevant requirements of the law; power to buy, take on lease or in exchange any property necessary for the achievement of the objects and to maintain and equip it for use; power subject to any consents required by law to borrow money and to charge all or part of the property of the Society with repayment of the money so borrowed; power to employ such staff as are necessary for the proper pursuit of the objects and to make all reasonable and necessary provision for the payment of pensions and superannuation for staff and their dependents; power to co-operate with other charities, voluntary bodies and statutory authorities operating in furtherance of the objects or of similar charitable purposes and to exchange information and advice with them; power to establish or support any charitable trusts, associations or institutions formed for all or any of the objects; power to appoint and constitute such advisory committees as the Committee may think fit; power to do all such other lawful things as are necessary for the achievement of the objects.

10. Meetings and proceedings of the committee

The trustees may regulate their proceedings as they think fit, subject to the provisions of this constitution. The committee shall hold at least 2 ordinary meetings each year. A special meeting may be called at any time by the chairman, or by any 2 members of the committee, upon not less than 4 days' notice being given to the other members of the committee of the matters to be discussed, but if the matter includes the appointment of a co-opted member, then not less than 21 days' notice must be given. Any trustee may call a meeting of the trustees. The secretary must call a meeting of the trustees if requested to do so by a trustee. The chairman shall act as chairman at meetings of the committee. If the Chair is absent from any meeting, the members of the committee present shall choose one of their number to be chairman before any other business is transacted. There shall be a quorum when at least one third of the number of members of the time-being, or three members of the committee (whichever is the greater), are present at a meeting. No decision may be made by a meeting of the trustees unless a quorum is present at the time the decision is purported to be made. A trustee shall not be counted in the quorum

present when any decision is made about a matter upon which that trustee is not entitled to vote. If the number of trustees is less than the number fixed as the quorum, the continuing trustees or trustee may act only for the purpose of filling vacancies or of calling a general meeting. Questions shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members of the committee present and voting on the question, but in the case of equality of votes, the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or 'casting' vote. The committee shall keep minutes of the proceedings at meetings of the committee and any sub-committee, and shall ensure that these are stored safely, and that they are available for inspection as required. The committee may appoint one or more sub-committees, consisting of three or more members of the committee, for the purpose of making any enquiry or supervising or performing any function or duty which, in the opinion of the committee, would be more conveniently undertaken or carried out by a sub-committee: provided that all acts and proceedings of any such sub-committee shall be fully and promptly reported to the committee. Where the Society has a paid conductor or musical director, he or she may attend committee meetings except when his/her position is being considered. He/she shall not be eligible to vote in a committee meeting.

11. Conflicts of interests and conflicts of loyalties

A Society trustee must: declare the nature and extent of any interest, direct or indirect, which he or she has in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the Society or in any transaction or arrangement entered into by the Society which has not been previously declared; and absent himself or herself from any discussions of the Society trustees in which it is possible that a conflict will arise between his or her duty to act solely in the interests of the Society and any personal interest (including but not limited to any personal financial interest). Any trustee absenting himself or herself from any discussions in accordance with this clause must not vote or be counted as part of the quorum in any decision of the trustees on the matter.

12. Rules

The trustees may from time to time make rules or byelaws for the conduct of their business. The bye-laws may regulate the following matters but are not restricted to them: the admission of members of the Society (including the admission of organisations to membership) and the rights and privileges of such members, and the entrance fees, subscriptions and other fees or payments to be made by members; the conduct of members of the Society in relation to one another, and to the Society's employees and volunteers; the setting aside of the whole or any part or parts of the Society's premises at any particular time or times or for any particular purpose or purposes; the procedure at general meeting and meetings of the trustees in so far as such procedure is not regulated by this constitution; generally, all such matters as are commonly the subject matter of the rules of an unincorporated association. The trustees must adopt such means as they think sufficient to bring the rules and byelaws to the notice of members of the Society. The rules or byelaws shall be binding on all members of the Society. No rule or byelaw shall be inconsistent with, or shall affect or repeal anything contained in, this constitution.

13. Finance

The financial year shall end on 31st May. A banking account shall be opened in the name of the Society and payments shall be authorised by any two officers. The income and property of the Society whencesoever derived shall be applied solely towards promoting the objects of the Society as set forth above. No portion thereof shall be paid or transferred either directly or indirectly to any trustee except in payment of legitimate expenses incurred on behalf of the Society or with approval and/or permission from the Charity Commission.

14. Annual General Meeting

The Society must hold a general meeting within twelve months of the date of the adoption of this constitution. An annual general meeting must be held in each subsequent year and not more than fifteen months may elapse between successive annual general meetings. At least 21 days' written notice of an AGM shall be given to all members. The committee shall present to each AGM the report and accounts of the Society for the preceding year. Nominations for election to the committee must be made by members of the Society in writing. Should nominations exceed vacancies, an election shall be held.

15. Special General Meeting

All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called special general meetings. The trustees may call a special general meeting at any time. At least 21 days' written notice of an SGM shall be given to all members. The trustees must call a special general meeting if requested to do so in writing by at least ten members or one tenth of the membership, whichever is the greater. Where the Society has less than 30 members, the trustees must call a special general meeting if requested to do so in writing by at least five members. The request must state the nature of the business that is to be discussed. If the trustees fail to hold the meeting within twenty-eight days of the request, the members may proceed to call a special general meeting but in doing so they must comply with the provisions of this constitution.

16. Procedure at General Meetings

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. A quorum is: 3 members entitled to vote upon the business to be conducted at the meeting; or one tenth of the total membership at the time, whichever is the greater. If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting; or during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as the trustees shall determine. The trustees must re-convene the meeting and must give at least seven clear days' notice of the re-convened meeting stating the date time and place of the meeting. If no quorum is present at the re-convened meeting within fifteen minutes of the time specified for the start of the meeting the members present at that time shall constitute the quorum. The secretary or other person specially appointed by the committee shall keep a full record of proceedings at every general meeting of the Society.

17. Accounts

The financial accounts shall be audited or examined to the extent required by legislation or, if there is no such requirement, scrutinized by a person who is independent of the Committee and then submitted to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

18. Alterations to the constitution

The constitution may be altered by a two-thirds majority of the members present and voting at any General Meeting, provided that fourteen days' notice of the proposed alteration has been sent to all members and provided nothing herein contained shall authorise any amendment which shall have the effect of the Society ceasing to be a charity. No amendment may be made to clause 1 (the name of the Society), clause 2 (the objects), clause 13 (finance), or clause 19 (dissolution), without the prior written consent of the Charity Commission. The committee shall send the Charity Commission a copy of any amendment made under this clause. Where a society is too small to register with the Charity Commission only sub clause (1) of this clause will be applicable.

19. Dissolution

In the event of the Society being wound up, any assets remaining upon dissolution after the payment of proper debts and liabilities shall be transferred to a charitable institution or institutions having similar objects to those of the Society.

It was agreed at a Special General Meeting of the Society convened on 9 November 2017 and held at River Methodist Church, Lewisham Road, River, Dover CT17 0PP that this constitution shall replace any previous constitution with effect from 1 January 2018.